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London has altered surprisingly little in its appearance in the thirty-seven years since this book was first published. The east and south of the city have been transformed and high buildings dot the horizon. A greater change has been in building use, with warehouses and factories disappearing in favour of shops, studios and residences in the inner area. London has boomed economically, faltered and boomed, but its overall vitality has survived and grown. Its status as Europe’s premier capital was in doubt amid the seventies’ gloom. It now seems beyond argument.


The question for any history of development is how far the loosening of planning control over the past third of a century has been good or bad. Such weakening, which already alarmed me in the 1970s, has failed to keep London a low-rise and essentially courteous townscape. Skyscrapers loom over and wreak havoc upon too many vistas. Whether these lapses facilitated London’s prosperity and rise to prominence, I very much doubt. Bad decisions on land use, height and comprehensive renewal may blight future prosperity. But these questions only time can answer. Other European cities have retained their vigour and appeal with more rigorous controls on their physical appearance. Shards and Gherkins are inconceivable in central Paris, Rome, Berlin or Amsterdam.


That said, the character of the areas of the capital chiefly covered in this book has remained remarkably constant. The great estates conceived as residential and commercial entities, such as Grosvenor, Bedford, Portland and Cadogan, still reign over their diminished territories. The wide sweep of conserved fabric across Westminster, Kensington, Chelsea and Camden is largely preserved, forming what is surely the grandest area of pre-twentieth-century building in the world. Those who have championed historical London must still fight regular skirmishes, but the great wars have been won.


London’s landlords remain a diverse group. Great corporations have replaced some of the family estates. The government sector rose to prominence in the property market at the end of the century, but has now partially withdrawn. The new London has tended to be on derelict sites, as along the South Bank, on railway yards, canals, wharfs, docks and power stations. What was worth conserving is now on the whole safe, and the planning battles have moved mostly to the countryside. As such, the landlords to London have not done a bad job, but their guardians must never drop their guard.


Sir Simon Jenkins


March 2012



















Introduction





This book is not intended to be a portrait of a unique city. It is about London because that is the city in which I have spent almost all my life, and which I have grown to love in consequence. But I firmly believe that all cities everywhere possess similar characteristics and that their inhabitants will react in much the same way when their environment undergoes severe change. London as a city has changed more than most over its long history and is at present experiencing a radical upheaval in its structure and appearance. It is this process which I have attempted to trace in this book. Basically it is a story of a place rather than its people. Londoners are a fascinating subject for study and are the indispensable raw material for any visitor’s impression of the city. But they have already received ample attention. There is no shortage of books proclaiming the lives and deeds of London’s men and women and the social movements of which they have been a part. Far less has been written of the land on which they have walked, the houses in which they have lived and the small group of powerful men who have restlessly moulded and remoulded their surroundings. The physical development of a city is not, as is often supposed, merely another aspect of its economic activity. Decisions on the use of land are absolutely fundamental to the way people live on it. The nature of property ownership, the extent of public control, the styles of streets and buildings, the whims, fashions and pecuniary ambitions of land holders, all dictate not just the city’s appearance but the social behaviour of its inhabitants. In London today, as in most big western cities, economic pressures are drastically altering the lives of these inhabitants, sweeping away their homes, jobs, entertainments, services, sometimes replacing them, sometimes not. People do not like the way this is happening and increasingly they are fighting against it. The London environment has become a heated political issue.


This will not be a passing fad. The London we are creating today is likely to last a very long time indeed. All over Europe and North America, cities are now losing population fast as people leave to enjoy the greater space of the suburbs and the countryside. For those who remain behind, prosperity has meant a slackening of concern for simple economic survival and a growing demand for an improved quality of life. Despite soaring land values, the pressure of public opinion for an end to further city centre redevelopment is becoming overwhelming. In one city after another, the authorities are imposing severe restrictions on any new commercial construction—bans on further high-rise office development, for instance, are in force in Amsterdam, Munich, Bologna, Toronto and to a partial extent in London. These restrictions have rarely come about through the self-restraint of landowners, developers or public servants. They are usually the result of public opinion angry at the lack of such restraint. In central London over the past decade, scarcely a street has avoided the pall of demolisher’s dust. No vista has survived intact. Huge areas have been torn down and reconstructed to a scale and for a purpose which may respond to economic demands, but seldom to human need. Now city-dwellers have begun to call a halt. They have become passsionately conservative people. Dazed with the changes of the post-war era, they want time to stop and think. And in cities with democratically responsive governments this cry is being transmitted into action.


London is at present losing some 100,000 people a year, and current restraint on future development will do little to stop the drain. It may be that as economic growth is directed more and more away from the city centre towards the suburbs and the provinces London will cease to hold the attractions for capital and for employment which underpinned its post-war boom. Certainly this pattern has been seen most clearly in North American cities such as New York and Philadelphia. But London need not go into decline. It may no longer be the anvil on which the commercial steel of the British economy is beaten out. The heat may be turned down and the great wealth which has been sucked into it for so long may find other homes. But with careful planning the consequence could be a less frantic, more spacious and more attractive place in which to live. This question will be raised again in the concluding chapter, but it is reasonable to suppose that we are entering a period of relative stability in London, in which a falling population and controls on redevelopment will gradually freeze its present structure and appearance for a very long time. The new buildings, the restoration and renewal of streets and neighbourhoods, the redirection of employment to new areas, the residential security that is being granted to different income groups, will all become more or less permanent features of the environment. Short of a major political or economic catastrophe, what goes up now is unlikely to come down. Traces which can be saved from former generations—old buildings, districts, even commercial activities—are unlikely to be placed under serious threat again. This is the consequence of probably the most intricate and determined planning machinery any city has ever known, backed as it undoubtedly is by the full weight of local public opinion. By the same token, what we get wrong now we may never again be able to put right.


In so many of the post-mortems held about the state of the urban environment the targets of blame are hopelessly confused. Architects are belaboured for the faults of planners; planners for the faults of politicians; landlords for the faults of legislators; and developers for the faults of an ill-informed public opinion. By the end of this book, I hope some of these targets may be clearer. But of one thing there can be no doubt: all these arguments lead back to one essential question, the control of land. Britain remains a capitalist country in which the right to the private ownership of land, whether in city or country, has never been seriously undermined. However diverse, however magnificent, however national or even global in importance London may be, the fact is that most of it stands on land owned by private individuals. It is theirs and they could, until recently, do with it what they chose. For most of its history they have had to operate within some form of legal framework, and since the last war they have suffered a progressive and drastic curtailment of their range of choice. There are today few London property owners who can lay a finger on their land without a phenomenal stack of permissions and approvals. But even today the tradition of the rights of private property remains strong. To own land in London is still to possess considerable power over the activities of its citizens, as well as to hold title to huge actual or potential wealth. So bemused are we by the complexity of most London planning debates that we often underestimate the role still played in them by private land tenure. As a result, the advancing of solutions takes on a curious air of unreality and impotence. ‘But why can’t we do this? Aren’t we all agreed on it?’ is the cry of so many who have been brought up to believe in the omnipotence of public planning. Meanwhile landowners themselves grow baffled and embittered at the cavalier fashion in which their once-respected rights are now treated. They know these rights have changed out of all recognition, but no one has yet put forward a coherent redefinition of them which stops short of outright expropriation. One developer had a long succession of applications to rebuild a section of his land turned down by the local authority. Finally in desperation he pleaded with them: ‘Just tell me what it is you will allow me to do with it?’ He got no reply. The local authority felt it would be intruding too far. The sense of confusion was mutual.


It may well be that the days of private land ownership, at least in the central area of a city such as London, are over. It may be that with planners and public opinion exercising ever more detailed control over the minutiae of urban redevelopment, landowners will be deprived of any function beyond the passive receipt of rent revenue. And it may be that under these circumstances the community will decide not only to confiscate any development profits resulting from land ownership but also to take over the land outright by compulsory acquisition—as has so often been proposed by the Labour Party and reiterated after the two 1974 General Elections. Detailed planning control need not necessarily take us the whole way down the road to full public ownership, or even the ownership of land considered ripe for development. But the road we are on is leading in that direction. If such an eventuality were to occur, a long chapter in London’s history will have closed—a chapter that has lasted for nearly four centuries. The age of private property development will have come to an end.


Part One of this book tells the story of those centuries. It traces the development of the fields round the ancient City walls following the dissolution of the monasteries in the mid-sixteenth century. These fields were passed on to friends and favourites of various Tudor and Stuart monarchs and then, sometimes through sale, usually through line of descent, to the families who were responsible for their early development. They gave way to the great estates of west London. These were, and in part remain, London’s most magnificent possession and their owners are still growing rich on their revenues. In the second half of the nineteenth century, the railway companies imposed drastic changes on the London environment. They led to a massive social upheaval among the poorer sections of the community and began to break down the residential basis of central London development. At the same time, they opened large areas of the suburbs for new housing, a process which continued right up to the Second World War.


Part Two looks back over the same period, but from a different angle. It traces the early germination of public concern at the state of the city environment, and the first moves on the part of public authorities to bring it under control. In a sense, the story comes full circle. The restrictions on development in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries were severe, at times even a match for present-day planning regulations. The surburban expansion of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries saw a relaxation of these restrictions as the property market stormed out over the fields of Middlesex, Essex, Kent and Surrey. But there were other restraints in operation—the self-esteem of the great estate managers, the good taste of the men who commissioned public buildings, and the mounting concern of social reformers at the inability of Parliament to bring about improvements in the health and welfare of the urban poor. All these forces cohered at the end of the nineteenth century to secure the establishment of democratic local government in London, administering a mass of Victorian social legislation. This led in turn to the first efforts at modern planning, which was to become increasingly comprehensive as the twentieth century progressed. A concern for the public interest was by no means a twentieth-century phenomenon—however lackadaisical and even bizarre its earlier manifestations may have been.


The last part brings these two strands in London development—the private and the public—together in a study of the period since the last war. What had seemed for three centuries like a gentlemanly dialogue now broke up in disorder. The post-war property boom finally ended the nineteenth-century pattern of land tenure and shattered many of the standards it had, however inadequately, upheld. Large areas of the city changed hands and much of it moved into the public domain. The ownership of land was removed not once but two or three times from its occupation. Accountants and treasurers now took over where aristocrats and their architects had left off, and they did so with a devastatingly single-minded ambition—to make as much money as they possibly could. For twenty years the established systems of public control trailed far behind. Loaded down with responsibilities it was ill-equipped to bear, the planning machine was a tortoise to the hare of property development. More recently, however, it has found greater stamina and self-confidence. Armed by Parliament with new powers of conservation and compulsory acquisition, local authorities have begun to concern themselves with every aspect of the environment and to fight against the more harmful effects of overdevelopment. This has happened almost entirely as a result of the pressure of public opinion, the growth of which is discussed in Chapter 14. The consequence is now an unprecedented degree of interventionism in the process of urban development. No other major city in the western world has to my knowledge yet progressed as far down this road as London. We have considerable experience of public control and the public ownership of urban land. But London is still essentially a private enterprise city dominated by a relatively free market in land and property. I try in the concluding chapter to examine some of the implications of present policies for the long-term development of London—at least in so far as lessons can be drawn from past experience. But I must admit that the story ends with a question mark. London’s past is difficult enough to disentangle. Its future must remain a mystery.



















Part One


The Growth of a Metropolis
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Mary Davies, Mistress of Ebury







The ancient forms of marriage—marriage by capture and marriage by purchase—point irresistibly to the conclusion that the woman had little or no voice in the matter. In the case of marriage by capture, the husband carried off his wife by force from a neighbouring tribe…. In the more peaceful form of marriage by purchase, the lady has become an article of marketable value, whose price is paid … to her relatives or owners.




 





(Edward Jenks, A History of Politics)





A visitor to Hyde Park in the 1670s would soon have grown accustomed to the exotic and the bizarre. Restoration London was in its prime. The new West End springing up in the fields north of St James’s Palace was at last challenging the great capitals of Europe as a centre of style, wealth and ostentation. And nowhere was this new-found confidence more amply demonstrated than in the Sunday afternoon promenades along the drives of the parks west of the city. Rotten Row and The Ring would be packed with members of the aristocracy—real and aspiring—competing with each other in the splendour of their clothes, their carriages, their servants and their women. If it was a snobbish society, at least it placed its prejudices on display. Novelty and extravagance were considered commonplace.


None the less, many heads would have turned at the sight of a young girl, no more than six years old, riding in a magnificent carriage drawn by six horses and attended by servants and a governess, all paying her more than customary attention for a girl of her age. She was not of noble birth nor would she have played with other children in the higher reaches of the Stuart aristocracy. As the afternoon progressed, she would have been seen returning not eastwards towards the fine houses of the West End or the City, but south to a house on Millbank just by the ‘horseferry’ to Lambeth. Here she lived a lonely life, guarded for all the world as if she were a crock of gold.


The girl was named Mary Davies. She had been just seven months old when in 1665 her father Alexander had died in the Great Plague.1 His widow, also called Mary, was only twenty-one at the time, and both mother and daughter might reasonably have disappeared from history, one of the thousands of London families bereaved by the happenings of that terrible year. Alexander, however, although a simple clerk by occupation, had the good fortune to be the great-nephew of a Mr Hugh Awdeley. Awdeley (or Audley) was one of the more remarkable men of seventeenth-century London. A lawyer by profession, he amassed great riches through his dealings in the pre-Civil War Court of Wards—a court which apportioned lands forfeited to the Crown. His wealth was legendary, and among his many acquisitions was the large Manor of Ebury, which until the Dissolution had been owned by the Abbots of Westminster. When he died in 1662, with no direct heirs and after changing his will many times, his estate was divided between the families of his three sisters. The Manor of Ebury went through his sister Elizabeth and her daughter Mary Peacock, who had married a City draper named John Davies, to settle on Elizabeth’s grandson, Alexander. The manor was by no means the most valuable of his properties, consisting mostly of swampy fields and a handful of farmsteads. The fields, part of the Domesday Manor of Eia, ran north from the Thames between the two brooks of Westbourne and Tyburn as far as the old Roman road to Bath (now Oxford Street). The northern fields were inconveniently cut off from the rest of the manor by various holdings, including some of the Bailiwick of St James, which belonged to the old leper hospital dissolved by Henry VIII to form St James’s Palace. None the less, the manor was tenanted and yielded Alexander an income of £1,300 a year apart from conferring on him the title of Lord of the Manor—not bad for a young clerk still in his twenties. Even more important, the manor lay right in the path of the westward expansion of Stuart London. Accordingly, Alexander purchased some additional land bequeathed to his brother Thomas along Millbank, and began to build a row of houses there—hoping to lead fashionable London south as well as west of St James’s. These houses, however, had neither been completed nor the land paid for when Alexander succumbed to the plague in 1665.


Financial greed has always played a major role in the history of London’s development, but it was seldom more blatant than in the machinations which followed Alexander’s death. He died intestate and the manor accordingly went one-third to his widow as long as she lived and the remainder to his only offspring, Mary. Mrs Davies herself promptly married again, to a Mr John Tregonwell, and set about the task of fending off her dead husband’s brother, Thomas, who was clamouring for payment for his land, as well as the many other creditors involved in the Millbank development. These creditors, coupled with the absence of a will, left the field open for a flurry of court cases as litigants crowded round the increasingly desirable estate. Mrs Davies, now Mrs Tregonwell, kept an impressively cool head throughout these goings on, but never more so than in the care with which she nourished her most valuable asset, her daughter Mary. It was not particularly uncommon at this period of history for parents to sell their daughters for cash where a substantial inheritance was involved. Where there is a market there is a price, and for the Manor of Ebury, embodied in the tiny person of Mary Davies, that price was certain to be a high one. We have no record of Mrs Tregonwell as being a lady of any great scruple, but she had a good head for business and was exceedingly ambitious for her daughter’s future. Besides, her late husband’s estate was clearly ripe for development and she wanted to ensure that the manor would pass into a succession secure from the litigation which was besetting it on all sides.


Mary was therefore placed in the care of her aunt, Mrs Mason, who would act as her governess. She was given three servants to wait on her and a coach and six to take her to the park. At one stage she was even sent to France, presumably to avoid the attentions of zealous suitors. Nothing must happen to her, her guardians were warned, and no one should come near her until the right moment arrived to place her on the market. As her mother later wrote: ‘All things were carried on with the air of greatness answerable to the fortune she was supposed to have.’2 Or, as her biographer preferred to put it, ‘the free gaiety of her childhood had this dark shadow thrown across it’.3


It was in December 1672 that the fruit first reached maturity. With Mary still at the tender age of seven, an arrangement was agreed between Mrs Tregonwell and no less a person than the Lord-Lieutenant of Ireland, Lord Berkeley of Stratton, for her marriage to Lord Berkeley’s ten-year-old son, Charles. At first, the deal must have fulfilled Mary Tregonwell’s proudest dreams. Although Berkeley was a nouveau arriviste, having won his fame and peerage as a Royalist soldier in the Civil War, Mary Davies would none the less enter the front rank of the Stuart nobility. She would move to the great mansion in Piccadilly (where until recently stood the Berkeley Hotel) and in due course become Lady Berkeley herself. What was more, the Manor of Ebury and old Hay Hill Farm behind Berkeley House would eventually be united in a great swathe of property across the entire western reaches of the Metropolis. To Lord Berkeley, the deal opened up these same territorial possibilities. Like many newly-created Stuart aristocrats who had earned their rank through military service to the King, Berkeley lacked wealth. This Mary Davies offered him. But at a price. The price, fixed by Mrs Tregonwell, was £5,000 payable to her immediately in cash and £3,000 in land settled on Berkeley’s son as part of the marriage contract. For all his rank, it was clearly she who was calling the tune. And although he found the £5,000 and duly paid it over, he could not raise the other £3,000. Accordingly, Mrs Tregonwell broke off the deal. The unfortunate Charles Berkeley later died at sea and what might have been a drastic new direction in the history of the West End never occurred.


The Tregonwells now had the problem of refunding to Berkeley the £5,000, most of which they had already spent paying off Alexander’s creditors. This meant that Mary had once again to be placed on the market. This time there was to be no mistake. Sir Thomas Grosvenor was no destitute aristocrat. He may have been a mere provincial baronet, but he was owner of the Eaton Estate in Cheshire on which he was already engaged in building himself a new mansion. Indeed, his income was estimated at the time as twice that of Mary Davies. He was a well-educated, much travelled and cultured young man of twenty-one, who had succeeded to the title on the death of his father when he was barely six years old. The arrangement with Mrs Tregonwell offered him not only the potential of still greater wealth but also land in London close to the Court and Parliament, where he already had political ambitions. The contract was accordingly drawn up and agreed to. Since Mary was still only twelve, Mrs Tregonwell insisted that she remain in London for a further two years, with an allowance of £500 a year towards her upkeep. Sir Thomas also had to grant an annuity for her governess, Mrs Mason, and provide £5,000 plus £1,500 interest to be made over to Lord Berkeley. The receipt for this latter payment must be one of the most remarkable documents of London estate history.4 The bargain was a tough one and Mrs Tregonwell must have been well pleased with herself. The marriage duly took place on October 10th, 1677, at St Clement Dane’s Church in the Strand. It is impossible to conceive of the bewilderment with which poor Mary must have viewed the proceedings. But it was not until two years later that she finally travelled up to Cheshire, the journey in those days taking more than a week. There she became mistress of the magnificent new Eaton Hall, and mistress also of villages whose names a century later were to become familiar back in her old fields at Ebury—villages such as Belgrave, Eccleston, Kinnerton, Churton and Halkin.


If anyone thought that the troubled story of Hugh Awdeley’s old estate might now have rested, they were soon proved wrong. What effect the manner of her upbringing must have had on Mary Davies’s mind can only be guessed at. But shortly after she arrived at Eaton she became more and more involved with the local Catholic community—much to her husband’s consternation. The Grosvenors were an established Protestant family and Sir Thomas, at the age of twenty-four, had already been returned as local Member of Parliament. His wife’s increasing interest in Catholicism was like going over to the Opposition. More serious by far was that in 1697, after just twenty years of marriage, Mary Davies began to develop a mental illness which was to grow progressively worse throughout the remainder of her life. Sir Thomas, however, described by his wife’s biographer, Charles Gatty, as a ‘hard-working, affectionate and highly sensitive man’, did not have to endure his wife’s problems for long. Three years later in 1700 he himself fell ill and eventually died, of an unrecorded malady.


Dame Mary Grosvenor was now left as head of a family of three boys and a girl, with a vast estate but with none of the determination and shrewdness which her own mother had possessed in similar circumstances thirty-five years earlier. She was unstable and insecure and surrounded by Catholic associates of whose good intentions she was likely to be the worst judge. So desperate did some of her late husband’s friends become for the future of the Grosvenor family that they even thought of taking out a certificate of lunacy. However, Gatty records that they eventually ‘considered she was a woman of considerable estate, and her eldest son, Sir Richard, a baronet of this kingdom, an ingenious hopeful young gentleman, who might suffer much in his fortune hereafter, should his mother be proved a lunatic upon record’.5


They must soon have regretted their decision. Within two months of her husband’s funeral—and the birth of her last child, Anne—Dame Mary Grosvenor announced her intention of travelling to the Continent with her Catholic chaplain and constant companion, Father Fenwick. After many attempts by her friends to prevent her, she finally set out from Eaton for Grosvenor House in London (then situated on Millbank). There she gathered a small party and departed for Paris and Rome. Paris at that time was a hive of expatriate English Catholics who had fled there in 1688 with James II. Dame Mary’s arrival was naturally the cause of much attention. The visit was clearly a shambles. At one stage, she tried to send one of her maids into a French nunnery, and her travelling companion, a Mrs Turnour, decided eventually to return to London. Dame Mary did reach Rome, accompanied by the ever-present Father Fenwick, but returned to Paris, feeling extremely unwell, in June 1701. What then happened is shrouded in mystery. Dame Mary, incarcerated in the Hotel Castile, was being treated with a horrifying mixture of emetics, opium pills and continual bleeding. She was visited by a gentleman who had paid her a certain amount of attention during her brief stop-over in London. This was her chaplain’s elder brother, Edward Fenwick. One Saturday night, during which Dame Mary had been dangerously ill, Fenwick proudly announced to his friends that he and Lady Grosvenor were now man and wife, his brother the chaplain having duly performed the ceremony.


There then ensued a truly remarkable series of court cases, both in London and in France, in which Fenwick and his friends attempted to secure the financial fruits of this clearly fraudulent operation. Dame Mary returned, desperate, to London, where she bitterly protested at her ‘ill usage’. She wrote to the Grosvenors’ London agent, Mr Andrews, that ‘I positively deny it, and so will swear, and shall never own any such thing, it being absolutely false; for I never saw book, or heard marriage words, nor said any.’ Fenwick, however, promptly presented himself in London demanding his conjugal rights. And while Dame Mary’s family frantically removed her to Eaton, he proceeded round the London estates demanding that her tenants now pay rent to him. Since Sir Richard Grosvenor, her eldest son, was soon to get under way the development of the property in the north of the manor at Grosvenor Square, the question of the payment of rents was crucial. Fenwick was a shrewd and unscrupulous man and put in pleas before both Ecclesiastical and secular courts for the recognition of his marriage. He threatened to eject any tenants not paying rent to him, and as a result the Court of Chancery had to insist that all rents be paid into the court until the matter was settled.


Cynics who marvel at the capacity of British justice to create injustice through delay might well read the saga of Fenwick v. Grosvenor.6 Over the next five years, the fate of one of the largest and potentially most profitable slices of London hung in the balance. Grasping and incompetent lawyers fumbled and feuded, drawing fat fees and seldom showing any concern for the distress they were causing to the parties involved. Indeed, there were times when the Grosvenor fortunes could well have evaporated had not the family possessed friends as loyal and determined as Sir Richard Middleton and Thomas and Francis Cholmondeley, who had been left by Sir Thomas as guardians of his children. In 1702, they did succeed in securing the imprisonment of Fenwick in Paris for premeditated felony in coercing a woman into marriage (a capital offence in France at that time). Much to Fenwick’s good fortune, however, war broke out that same year between France and England, and he was able to bribe his way out of the Little Chatelet prison and back to London.


Here he renewed his legal activities, while Middleton and Cholmondeley fought desperately to stave him off. In 1703 the case finally came to Westminster Hall before the Queen’s Bench Division. Here, after an extraordinary series of improbable witnesses had taken the stand, the jury found in favour of Fenwick that a marriage had actually taken place that night in Paris. At the same time, however, proceedings were also entered in the Ecclesiastical Court of Delegates, and in 1705 this court concluded that the marriage was null and void, thus overturning the previous verdict. During this whole time, Dame Mary was kept by her advisers more or less imprisoned at Eaton and at Vale Royal, the home of the Cholmondeleys. She grew increasingly demented as the years went by, plagued by the memories of that dreadful visit to Paris and boasting of imaginary friends in high places in the Church. Mary Tregonwell, her mother, showed no concern whatsoever for her well-being, although she was closely involved throughout the litigation in maintaining the security of her own share of Alexander Davies’s estate. This determined old lady lived on at the Millbank house, finally dying there in 1717. Dame Mary Grosvenor herself survived in the care of family friends until her death in 1730, by which time her son had begun to carry out her father’s great ambitions on the Ebury Estate.


This development, which grew in time to cover the whole of north Mayfair, the fields of Belgravia behind Buckingham Palace and the marshland of Pimlico, made the descendants of Mary Davies the richest private landowners in London. Combined with the wealth of the Grosvenors’ provincial estates, they enabled the Dukes of Westminster (as they later became) to amass the largest fortune in private hands in England.7 This power over the lives of ordinary Londoners and over the land on which they live dates back in direct descent to that frail child paraded in her carriage round the parks of London. This is the true measure of the strength of the hereditary principle in British life and of its lasting hold over land tenure. Yet the story of Mary Davies was not exceptional. It was repeated in one form or another on most of the great London estates in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries.




Notes


1. The full story of Mary Davies is told in her biography, Mary Davies and the Manor of Ebury, Vols I and II, by Charles T. Gatty. Cassell, 1945. This chapter is largely based on it.


2. ibid., I, p. 193.


3. ibid., I, p. 198.


4. ibid., I, p. 221.


5. ibid., II, p. 54.


6. ibid., II, pp. 104–156.


7. See numerous references to the Grosvenor Estate in Douglas Sutherland, The Landowners, Blond, 1968.
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The Church Loses Hold





The chief reason why a handful of individuals and institutions are at present able to make large amounts of money out of the land on which London stands is simple. Most of them have held that land continuously for the past three to four hundred years, and many right back to the Dissolution. In its impact on land tenure in London, the Dissolution was by far the most important single event in London’s history, more important even than the Great Fire or the Blitz. For it achieved something they failed to do—it redistributed the ownership of property over virtually the whole of the present London area. Its immediate consequences are crucial to understanding why London is as it is today.


Medieval London at the opening of the Tudor period was still a small and compact city. Largely confined within the Roman and medieval walls, it had much the same relationship with its surrounding countryside as any small market town might have now. The Court at Westminster admittedly attracted many of the most prominent figures of Church and State, and they in turn attracted countless semi-destitute hangers-on. But the City kept its independence downstream within its famous Square Mile, encircled by a cordon sanitaire of land held by the various religious orders. The City Establishment was close-knit, as were the various guilds and groups of workers.* The Church, in its many manifestations, then performed the tasks today performed by the State or by local authorities. Hospitals, leper houses, schools, convents, priories, almshouses lined the roads leading from the City’s gates, supported, usually in fief from the Crown, by revenues from the farms and other lands surrounding them. At the same time, crowded out from within the walls and eager to be near the Court and Abbey at Westminster, priors and bishops from all over England built themselves palaces and bought themselves estates along the banks of the Thames. The conspicuous luxury of the pre-Reformation Church, which eventually contributed to its downfall, was nowhere more apparent than in the fields upstream of the City of London.†


A voyage up the Thames from old London Bridge, for instance, would have taken the early sixteenth-century traveller past, on the north bank, the riverside palaces (often euphemistically called inns) of the Bishop of Exeter and the Bishop of Bath. Then came the Savoy Palace, built for the uncle of Eleanor, wife of Henry III and converted into a charity for the ‘destitute and disorderly’. Next to this were more ‘inns’ for the Bishops of Carlyle, Durham and Norwich, the Hospital of St Mary Rouncivall and the sumptuous palace of the Archbishop of York, so fine that Henry VIII finally took it from Wolsey and turned it into Whitehall Palace for his own use. St James’s Palace was then the Leper Hospital of St James. To the west and north, almost all the land was in the ownership of the wealthy Abbot of Westminster, whose convent was situated on the site of what is now Covent Garden. Westminster Abbey territory extended over the whole of the great Manor of Ebury, which ran from the horseferry right up to Mayfair. North of that, the Knights Templar held the Manor of Lileston in Marylebone, while Bloomsbury Manor belonged to the Prior of the Charthouse. What is now Piccadilly and Soho was divided between Abingdon Abbey, the Hospital of Burton Lazar and the Hospitals of St Giles and St James. On the south bank of the river, the wealthy Abbey of Bermondsey extended upstream to Lambeth, taking in as well the Hospital of St Thomas, while the Bishops of Winchester and Rochester, the Prior of Lewes and the Monastery of St Saviour’s all took riverside land within its boundaries. Indeed, the City itself was totally marooned in a sea of church lands.1


The Dissolution altered this picture so drastically that it is impossible to conceive what modern London might be like had it not taken place. The pillage of the institutions themselves was horrific, wiping out countless treasures of English medieval art. Some colleges and hospitals survived, usually under the benefaction of wealthy citizens or City companies who saw the continuing need for the services they had provided. Others vanished completely. Many of the palaces and inns were soon handed over to courtiers, and almost all of the land went into the possession either of the Crown or of the Crown’s present or future friends.


Inside the city walls the impact of the Dissolution was most dramatic. There had been twenty-three religious houses in the medieval city, and they were among its finest architectural jewels.2 Almost all vanished, their buildings to be either demolished or occupied by laymen. In some cases their churches survived as parish churches—such as St Bartholomew-the-Great in Smithfield (one of only two Norman churches still surviving in the City today). Three other Austin priories, Holy Trinity within Aldgate, St Mary Spital and St Mary Elsing Spital, were destroyed and their associated hospitals and almshouses redeveloped for housing. A characteristic fate was that which befell the Austin Friars house by London Wall. The property was granted to the Marquesses of Winchester and the church itself to the local Dutch community for their use. There were early preservationist protests as the spire was demolished, but down it came. The Marquess built himself a large house on the site. Soon afterwards, however, he sold it to the Lord Mayor, John Swinnerton, doubtless realising that the City was becoming ever more undesirable as a place in which to live. The price was £5,000. Meanwhile, the property of the Crutched Friars near Tower Hill had gone to Sir Thomas Wyatt; he tore down their church and put in its place ‘a carpenter’s yeard, a Tennis Court and such like: the Friars Hall was made a glasse house’. The ancient house of the Holy Trínity Minories just north of the Tower was turned into a storehouse for weapons and, eventually, a gunpowder factory. Even the Royal Free Chapel of St Martin’s-le-grand was replaced by a large wine-house. As Brett-James wrote: ‘… the damage to church property frequently alleged against Oliver Cromwell and his Roundheads and Ironsides, mainly in time of war, is a mere drop in the ocean compared with the ruthless destruction of the glorious churches and spacious monastic buildings of London and elsewhere during the half-century immediately succeeding the Dissolution.’3


The changes which took place in and near the City, however, were changes which would doubtless have come sooner or later under the pressure of City redevelopment. The changes which took place beyond its walls, and particularly in Westminster and Middlesex, were no less dramatic and far more lasting in their consequences. In the half century following the Dissolution, each of the bishops’ palaces along the Strand passed into lay hands (despite the fact that the bishops themselves had escaped its impact). The Bishop of Exeter’s inn went finally to the Earl of Essex, the Bishop of Bath’s to the Earl of Arundel, the Bishop of Carlyle’s to the Earl of Bedford. Protector Somerset redeveloped a number of episcopal inns and other properties to create his magnificent Somerset House (predecessor to the present one). He also received the Convent Garden of the Abbot of Westminster, though this eventually passed through the Earl of Salisbury to the Earl of Bedford. Bermondsey Abbey itself went to the Earl of Sussex, and much of its extensive land south of the Thames was later transferred to the Duchy of Cornwall. The Manor of Bloomsbury went to the Earl of Southampton. The Manor of Lileston went to the Knights of St John of Jerusalem (hence St John’s Wood) and passed eventually to a west country family, the Portmans. Henry VIII himself, who had been buying extensively from the Abbot of Westminster land north of what is now Trafalgar Square to safeguard water supplies to the new palace at Whitehall, took the hospital of St James from Eton College in exchange for property elsewhere. It became another royal palace. Many of these transfers of land have remained secure with the families concerned ever since. The descendants of men such as Arundel, Southampton and Portman have grown extremely rich as a result and their names are firmly stamped on the streets and squares of their districts of London.


However, there were other consequences of the Dissolution which were equally important if these men were to derive any early profit from their good fortune. The releasing of quantities of monastic land both inside and outside the City, the prosperity of the early years of Elizabeth’s reign and even the freeing of numerous monks and nuns from their vows of celibacy all led to a sudden explosion in the London population. It was an explosion which even the conversion of dozens of monastic buildings into tenements was unable to accommodate. In the fifty years of Elizabeth’s reign London’s population more than doubled, after remaining almost constant for a century before. The pressures to which this led provoked a variety of desperate responses from the authorities in an attempt to prevent overcrowding and even halt the growth itself. But the growth continued. The people had to be housed and the new landowners were only too ready to flaunt the regulations to cater for and exploit them. The old monastic lands vanished under a wave of building and rebuilding. The courtiers and other beneficiaries of Henry VIII and his successors did more than take over the lifestyle of the abbots and priors. They became fully-fledged rentier capitalists.




Notes


1. For the early suburbs of medieval London see Christopher Hibbert, London, Longmans, 1969, and Norman Brett-James, The Growth of Stuart London, George Allen and Unwin, 1935, especially Brett-James, chapter 2.


2. Brett-James, op. cit, p. 31.


3. ibid., p. 35.









* The best way to revive the feel of Tudor London is to wander round the ancient cities of Castille or southern Italy where similar social traditions and patterns of internal trade still survive.







† Throughout this book, ‘City’ refers to the Square Mile controlled by the City Corporation; ‘city’ to the metropolis as a whole.
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The First Developers





The population of London grew hardly at all throughout the Middle Ages. Periodic plagues, which could literally decimate the city’s teeming inhabitants, were balanced by periodic bouts of immigration, flooding it with newcomers. Although the richer citizens certainly expected an improving standard of living over time, they tended to find it outside rather than inside the walls. For the remainder the struggle was more against the city’s mounting pollution than to gain better standards of accommodation. As we have seen, the Dissolution of the monasteries and the increased prosperity of the Elizabethan era drastically altered this. The population rose from an estimated 93,000 in 1563 to some 250,000 in 1605 (although all such figures can only be guesses) and the overcrowding of buildings became an endemic disease.1 The city’s streets and alleyways demonstrated all the signs of breakneck expansion which can be seen today in the booming cities of Latin America and the Far East. People were crammed into cellars; huts, hovels and sheds were propped against any available wall space; ribbon growth extended along roads leading to the main gates; and outlying farms suddenly acquired the appearance of hamlets as outhouses were occupied and extended. The Dissolution led to the demolition or conversion into tenements of many of the large houses previously owned by prosperous abbots and priors. Their sites and walls were promptly crammed with huddled dwellings, robbing them of stone or simply employing wattle and daub to provide a family with a roof over its head. In order to utilise every spare foot of ground space, higher storeys would ‘oversail’ alleys and passageways with no thought given to light, air and safety. What is now seen as picturesque was then grim necessity.


The first true estate development was outside the walls on virgin land where a landowner could allow his imagination to run riot and where big money and prestige could be earned from the aristocracy flocking to the glamorous court of James I. Prior to his accession, the newly landed nobility and gentry of the north and west suburbs of the city had been forced by building controls to confine their activities to building homes for themselves and occasionally their friends2—though along the Strand some blocks of tenements did appear in the ground of the old palaces. Streets such as Fleet Street, Chancery Lane, Holborn, Gray’s Inn Road and the Strand were built over, usually with shops and small houses put up by cheap local builders to meet local demand. But the land behind them was still predominantly agricultural or horticultural, as were the districts east and south of the city which, because of their distance from the Court at Westminster, were considered less desirable.


The credit for first realising the commercial possibilities of these fields ought probably to go to a man named Sir Charles Cornwallis, who in 1613 obtained a lease on a plot of land called Purse Field which ran from the west side of the present Lincoln’s Inn Fields back towards Drury Lane. Having noticed the way individual houses were already creeping up Chancery Lane to the east, along Holborn to the north and along the Strand to the south, Cornwallis clearly saw the field’s speculative potential. On 24 March he duly applied to the Privy Council, as in law he was compelled to do, for a licence to build houses there. This appears to have been the first pukka developer’s planning application in London. The application, however, was the subject of what must be the first anti-developer dispute, leading, after a characteristic delay, to the first blunt planning refusal. The Society of Lincoln’s Inn, to whom the fields round Purse Field were of considerable amenity, at once protested to the Privy Council ‘that some do go about to erect new buildings in a field near unto them called Lincoln’s Inn Fields, with an intent to convert the whole field into new buildings … to the great pestering and annoyance of that Society.’3 The Privy Council fully accepted the protestation and promptly instructed the Justices of the Peace to ‘restrain and forbid that building by such effectual means as you shall think meet’.


Not content with stopping Cornwallis in his tracks, the Benchers of Lincoln’s Inn decided they needed further protection against the development of their Fields. They accordingly put forward in 1617 a scheme for laying out the Fields as an ornamental walk. This proposal was accepted by the Privy Council with commendable speed and the Surveyor-General, the great Inigo Jones, was appointed to prepare plans. The new fields would ‘as fair and goodly walks be a great ornament to the City, pleasure and freshness for the health and recreation of the Inhabitants there about, and for the sight and delight of Ambassadors and Strangers coming to our Court and City, and a memorable work of our time to all posterity’.


Cornwallis was unsuccessful. He was operating in a climate of opinion towards further building in London which, as can be seen from the remarks of the Privy Council in turning him down, could hardly have been less sympathetic. The efforts to halt the expansion of sixteenth-century London introduced in Elizabeth’s reign were still in force, and James issued numerous proclamations forbidding any new building. There are frequent accounts of properties constructed along the streets north of the Strand and Fleet Street being forcibly demolished—though admittedly this rarely happened to the houses of the nobility. The regularity of the anti-building proclamations and the frequency of lawsuits resulting from them suggests they were anything but effective. The street known as Long Acre, for instance, was a perpetual source of grievance. The King used it regularly to get from Westminster to his palace at Theobalds (hence its extension, Theobalds Road) and he could see with his own eyes the flouting of the Royal will. The result was the regular payment of fines, often quite substantial ones, in an effort by small builders to secure pardon for contravening the regulations and thus avoid a demolition order. It became a form of selling planning permissions.


In view of the failure of Sir Charles Cornwallis, the credit for being the first property owner actually to get speculative building on to the market in London should go to Robert Cecil, Earl of Salisbury. In 1609 Cecil purchased a plot of land in part of Swan Close along the line of St Martin’s Lane (just by the east side of the present Leicester Square). The Earl made no bones about his intentions, and although we have no specific records of house construction along this lane, he clearly made full use of his new acquisition. By 1623, he was paying ‘Lammas money’—money to the parish for the loss of certain common rights parishioners had previously enjoyed on the land—in respect of ‘certain fair buildings’ in St Martin’s Lane.4 By the early 1630s, the King himself was objecting strongly to the amount of sewage and other pollution produced by the Salisbury houses spilling down towards his palace in Whitehall. The houses themselves were known to have been substantial and were occupied by many aristocrats attached to the Stuart court. They are recalled by Cecil Court and the Marquis of Salisbury pub in St Martin’s Lane and by Cranbourn Street (another Salisbury title) to the north. It is perhaps ironic, considering the abuse which the English aristocracy was often to heap on property speculators in later centuries, that the first of them should have been one of the most distinguished peers in the realm.


Lord Salisbury’s speculation, however, was more a logical extension of the tenement developments which colleagues had undertaken on the sites of monastic property they had acquired in the City and along the Strand. It was comparatively small-scale and narrowly mercenary in ambition. Francis Russell, fourth Earl of Bedford, might have been blatantly mercenary, but his ambitions were anything but narrow. The project he eventually constructed in the old garden (already known as Covent Garden) behind Bedford House was for its age breathtaking. It was on a scale and in a style far beyond anything London had seen before.


The story began back in the district round Long Acre mentioned above. In 1630, the Earl of Bedford petitioned the Privy Council to protest at being required by the King to pave and maintain Long Acre where it passed through his land. He pointed out that he had only acquired the land in the hopes of ‘securing fair and spacious buildings to be there erected’. However, ‘by reason of His Majesty’s and his Father’s proclamations for restraint of building, [we] have made small benefit and the charge of repairing the way is so great that [we] are unable to undertake it…. If the King will give [us] leave to build, [we] will pave and keep it as well as any street in London.’5 As a result of this early offer of what would today be called planning gain, the Earl of Bedford in January 1631 received a licence to build over his land in Long Acre and Covent Garden, together with a pardon for any offences against the proclamations so far committed on that land.


The revolutionary character and the scale of what was proposed in Covent Garden led to the Privy Council insisting on their surveyor, Inigo Jones, being fully involved in the project from the very start. Whether it was Jones or the Earl of Bedford who conceived of the idea of a piazza, we do not really know. But since the Earl had a reputation for being a greedy and uncultured man whose interest in property development was at least in part due to his rejection by Court society, we can assume his concern was chiefly to realise a potentially profitable asset and thumb his nose at his aristocratic colleagues. Jones, on the other hand, stands out among his contemporaries for his cosmopolitan taste and his love of the daring and flamboyant. The splendid face which Covent Garden was to present to the world must surely have been Jones’s inspiration. The famous argument over the extravagance of the new church supports this supposition. ‘I wouldn’t have it much better than a barn,’ instructed the Earl. ‘Well then,’ replied Jones, ‘you shall have the handsomest barn in England.’6 Jones, at least, would not do a botched job. But Bedford had the last laugh. Eager to make his new development as profitable as possible, he decided to put Jones’s precious square to better use than simply for the perambulation of the residents. He let it as a fruit and vegetable market, which use it retained almost to this day, long after Jones’s cosmopolitan aristocrats had upped and left for more salubrious suburbs.


The Covent Garden piazza was an instant success and it immediately led to the development of the surrounding streets: King Street, Henrietta Street, Russell Street, Bedford Street, Maiden Lane and James Street. Leading courtiers poured in applications for the gracious houses overlooking the square and Bedford’s claim that it would be ‘fit for the habitations of gentlemen and men of ability’ (two separate categories in seventeenth-century London) was triumphantly vindicated. Chandos Street maintained the stylish character of the area by boasting England’s first balcony. And visitors from abroad were taken to see it in droves by citizens proud that at last their city had emerged from the Middle Ages into the architectural renaissance.


There is no doubt that Covent Garden would have set off a wave of similar, if not identical, developments right across what is now the West End had not the Civil War intervened. While the piazza was under construction, the Earl of Leicester was petitioning for a licence to build in his fields adjacent to the Earl of Salisbury’s development in St Martin’s Lane. In 1631 he received permission to construct a house for himself there. But the Privy Council’s Commissioners would not tolerate a repetition of Lord Salisbury’s activities next door and insisted on the fields in front of the house being laid out as a public garden—as they had already done in Lincoln’s Inn. The Earl as a result could do no building until after the Restoration. One developer, however, who did get houses built before the turbulent events of 1641 was William Newton. In 1638 he bought Purse Field, next to the precious Lincoln’s Inn Fields, from Lady Cornwallis, eager to try his hand where her husband had failed. He promptly applied for permission to build on the Fields. The times were hardly suitable for endless disputations in the Privy Council over the protection of such local amenities. Whether Newton paid a handsome sum of money to the right quarters we do not know, but despite further ferocious protests from the Benchers he received his permission to build thirty-two houses. (A year later he came to a private agreement with the Benchers to leave the centre of the Fields untouched.) However, the actual construction work was a shambles. Residents in the area complained that Newton’s men were piling tons of rubble and dirt on the Fields, quite obliterating Inigo Jones’s original pathways and depriving them of the pleasure they had previously taken in them. The Benchers, having failed to move the Crown, turned in 1639 to the House of Commons, which in time ordered all work on the development to cease. When Newton died in 1643, only the west side and part of the south side of the present Fields were enclosed with houses—including the magnificent Nos. 59–60 which still stand today, possibly the most evocative of all survivals of Stuart London. Even two years after Newton’s death, local people were vilifying his name, complaining bitterly that he had built the houses ‘for his owne private lucre’.7


Such people must have heaved a sigh of relief when the Civil War put a stop to all further development in London. The aristocracy fled to fight for the King or to protect their country estates, while the City’s money was devoted to raising and equipping the New Model Army. When Cromwell assumed power, he did nothing to relax the attempted control over urban expansion practised by the Stuarts. But although he duly renewed the various restrictive proclamations, he excluded three development projects already under way: the Earl of Bedford’s in Covent Garden, and two much smaller ones which seem to have slipped through the net, one by the Earl of Clare just by St Clement Danes (the site of the present Clare Market) and one by Sir John Barksted in Shoe Lane. Cromwell continued the system of fines for smaller infringements of the regulations. But it is likely that a drastic decline in demand was the chief factor restraining development under the Commonwealth. As a result, the map of London in 1643 was almost identical to the one which faced Charles II at the Restoration seventeen years later.


The experience of the Commonwealth made little impact on land tenure in London. In and around the City itself, the great City companies and the wealthy merchants had stood four square behind Parliament. Although they suffered a humiliation when Fairfax and his troops occupied the City in 1647, neither Cromwell nor the Restoration drastically altered the continuity of land ownership. The aristocrats of the West End, however, had largely deserted their great houses and their incipient property developments. Many of them simply lay empty, but one particularly fine house, that of the Dukes of Buckingham on the site of old York House below Charing Cross, was taken over by General Fairfax himself. The returning Duke of Buckingham only succeeded in regaining it by marrying the occupant’s daughter, Miss Fairfax, a pupil of Andrew Marvell.


The restored Stuart aristocracy arrived back in London from the provinces and from France determined to take over precisely where they had left off in 1641. Bringing with them the experience of new styles of Continental architecture and town planning, they were intent on showing England, and the rest of Europe, that the cultural traditions of the early Stuarts still flourished. One of the first into action was the Fourth Earl of Southampton, Thomas Wriothesley. In 1636 he had been refused permission to develop the land behind his old house on Holborn by the Privy Council, despite the support of the King himself (support which in those days could be counterproductive). He had managed during the Commonwealth to get this refusal revoked, and a certain amount of unco-ordinated development had taken place round Holborn in the late 1650s. But in 1661, the Earl petitioned for a new building licence for a piazza on the lines of Inigo Jones’s Covent Garden, together with houses round it on three sides. On the north side, facing towards Hampstead, he would build a new mansion for his own family. Beside the main piazza would be lesser streets for tradespeople and servants as well as a new market to supply them. Whereas Bedford had seen his development as being simply houses for the rich, Southampton went a step further. It would be a fully fledged new suburb. Southampton was in 1661 Lord Treasurer to Charles II and not surprisingly obtained his permission. Construction commenced immediately, and the result was the first beginnings of one of London’s greatest estates—Bloomsbury.


When the Earl lay dying in 1667 he could have looked out from the new Southampton House over what is now Bloomsbury Square and reflected that in just six years he had moved the fashionable focus of London northwards from Covent Garden and Whitehall. In addition, he had built one of the finest houses in the capital, and had done so at considerable profit to himself. The field of Pond’s Piece immediately west of the square (now the area opposite the British Museum) was swiftly built over and fine houses stretched along Great Russell Street and up what is now Southampton Row. The development was considerably helped by its situation on high ground with an excellent water supply and bracing fresh air. Scurvy, smallpox and above all the plague were becoming the curse of life in London and doctors were fulsome in their praise of the ‘dry grounds for walking and the improving of health’ to be found among the ‘fair and well-contrived buildings’ of Bloomsbury.8 Lord Southampton hardly needed the catastrophic outbreak of plague in 1665 to rub the point home to all who had the money to become his tenants.


Nor did he really need to spend considerable efforts as Lord Treasurer impeding his rivals. In the early 1660s he was continually using his position on the Privy Council to prevent the development of St James’s Fields behind St James’s Palace lest it should compete with Bloomsbury. But there was clearly enough housing demand in Restoration London for more than one fortune to be made. And Henry Jermyn, Duke of St Albans, was as determined as Lord Southampton to make one. Jermyn was the most distinctive of all Stuart developers: an outrageous, scheming courtier with not an ounce of scruple but immense style. His father had been Sir Thomas Jermyn, vice-chamberlain to Charles I, but he acquired his own immense influence at Court by his close alliance (believed to have been a secret marriage) with Henrietta Maria, Charles’s Queen and mother to Charles II. He was successively Ambassador to France, vice-chamberlain to the Queen—during which time he became famous for seducing her maid of honour—colonel of her bodyguard and manager of her finances in France during the exile. After the Restoration, he was appointed by the remarkably appreciative King as Lord High Admiral and, once again, as Ambassador to France. Andrew Marvell, who hated him, described him as having a ‘butcher’s mien’ and ‘drayman’s shoulders’, and he was undoubtedly envied and disliked by many at Court.9 He returned from his second period in Paris fabulously rich and an incorrigible gambler, lecher and speculator.


King Charles, with the aid of the famous French gardener Le Notre, had laid out the gardens of St James’s Palace with a formal avenue on one side down which his courtiers could play the new Italian craze, palla a maglio (a cross between croquet and bowls). Unfortunately, dust from the road to St James’s Palace made the avenue almost unusable, so Charles moved the road north to where the avenue had been and moved the ‘paille maille’ alley south. The new roadway was named Catherine Street, after his Queen. Londoners preferred the old name for it, Pall Mall.


Henry Jermyn had other ideas for it, and for ‘Pall Mall Field’ to the north of it. In 1662 he had obtained by some means or other a lease on the field from his friend the Queen Mother, giving him the opportunity to develop a huge area stretching from the present St James’s Street up to Jermyn Street and across to the Haymarket. He held the land on a sixty-year Crown lease and immediately began to develop it in collaboration with a number of his friends at Court including Sir Thomas Clarges and John Harvey. At first Jermyn had considerable difficulty in persuading sub-tenants to take plots and petitioned the King to allow him the ‘inheritance’ or freehold of the fields for building noblemen’s houses, in which he pointed out, London was sadly defective. If this were not granted, he said, ‘it will be very hard to attain the end proposed’ (a cry popular with developers down the ages). The King in 1665 accorded him his wish—doubtless under considerable pressure from the Queen Mother—and the development of St James’s Square began in earnest. By now developers needed no compulsion to create a piazza or square. The popularity of Covent Garden and Lincoln’s Inn Fields had proved that there was no better way of attracting prosperous residents than to promise them a fine prospect of their front door across a wide space in which they could walk and meet the other equally exalted inhabitants of the neighbourhood. Whereas a street was inevitably an enclosed space, usually leading from somewhere to somewhere else and thus congested and noisy, a square could be made exclusive, cut off from the rabble of the thoroughfares. Servants and stabling could all be neatly housed out of sight at the rear.


St James’s Square, within five minutes’ walk of the Royal Palace of St James and within easy reach of the main roads westwards out of London, could not have been more favourably located. Jermyn, like Southampton in Bloomsbury, provided a market and subsidiary housing (roughly on the site of the present Lower Regent Street). In the self-confident style of the seventeenth-century developers he backed his speculation with his own home (le patron habite ici) and occupied the first of the Square’s houses. An impressive list of tenants followed him, many of them Jermyn’s own friends: Lord Arlington, Lord Halifax, Lord Bellasis, the French Ambassador, the Earl of Kent and Lord Clarendon. Almost every house went to a member of the nobility. And the Grand Duke Cosmo of Tuscany, who rented St Albans’s own house in 1669, was moved to write marvelling that ‘The Earl of St Albans is the owner of the whole of the Square … this, in a little time, he will see covered with buildings of which he will be the absolute proprietor.’10 Samuel Pepys, a frequent visitor to the Court, would each time remark in his diary on the progress of the development. The very enormity of the task he had set himself meant that Jermyn had to sub-let considerable sections of the area to others to develop for him. St James’s thus sees the early growth of the new-style developer who holds no land but rents it from an owner, develops it and then sells it.


The Great Fire of London in 1666, which was such a major turning point in the history of the City, was even more important to the suburbs. Its story has been told often, but its most dramatic consequence was its impact on the outward spread of London. Already by the middle of the seventeenth century the old City within the walls had become a stinking, overcrowded, thoroughly intolerable place for any sort of gracious living. Its streets, never designed for wheeled traffic, were hopelessly congested. The rapid growth of the Elizabethan Age, coupled with the only partly successful proclamations preventing building in the suburbs, had led to the erection of thousands of tall wooden tenements on any land available behind the main street frontages. The oversailing of upper storeys was a desperate attempt to accommodate the thousands of newcomers pouring into the City. The streets below would be running with sewage, and Londoners would pray for rain to wash them clean—a happening with would frequently flood the basements of low-lying houses with the most horrific swill. In this climate, it was hardly surprising that regular outbreaks of the plague should culminate in 1665 in the Great Plague, sending large numbers of wealthier citizens fleeing to the countryside. No sooner had they returned than the alleys, courts, tenements and passages in which the fatal disease had so easily taken hold were wiped off the map in the conflagration of 1666.


Despite numerous attempts to co-ordinate a new plan for the ravaged City, rebuilding proceeded apace with landholders simply wanting to re-erect buildings on their original plots as swiftly as possible. The rate of reconstruction was truly amazing, since literally everything within the walls had been destroyed and the authorities were now insisting on new buildings being constructed of brick or stone rather than wood. The result was a great deal of jerry-building, with builders often mixing bricks from the earth and ashes found among the ruins. There was little attempt at street-widening or straightening and little attempt to put together adjacent sites to secure a measure of comprehensive redevelopment (experience after the last war shows how long that might have taken to achieve). People had to be housed and business had to recommence, and that as quickly as possible. In consequence, the City of London was, at least until the big redevelopments of recent years, almost purely medieval in its street layout (but see Chapter 8).


The glamorous new City proved by no means as enticing as its builders had supposed. The wealthy and the well-born had now endured two disasters in as many years, and during reconstruction they inevitably had to find somewhere else to live. Many did not return and helped fuel the continued expansion of the West End. For poorer people the new buildings may have been handsome constructions, blessed at last with some sort of drainage, but they were far more expensive than the old tenements had been. And since they had been built in such a hurry they were scarcely less liable to collapse (which they frequently did). Just as the wealthy were finding new homes for themselves further west, so there was a living to be made out of serving them and trading with them. The westward migration accelerated. Nor could the City Fathers appeal to that great incentive which still kept Continental cities compact—the need for strong defence against siege. No one had laid siege to London since the time of Boadicea. Even during the Civil War, Fairfax had mocked the rudimentary fortifications which the civic authorities had constructed against the King’s Army. In the Liberties outside the City limits, craftsmen and traders found they could flourish free from many of the restrictions of the City Guilds. And for a while at least they were liberated from that stifling city air. For the first time, Londoners in every income group discovered the pleasures of suburban living. Frequent petitions came from the City authorities calling for a banning of further building outside the City in the northern and western suburbs—‘a growing mischief which for a long time hath depopulated the country and now begins to depopulate the City too, by leaving a great part of it uninhabited’.11 Orders were introduced compelling Aldermen to return to the City on pain of losing their office and privileges. City companies reduced their various fees and the Guilds reformed their procedures to make entry easier and membership more attractive. But already ‘suburbs’ such as Spitalfields, Clerkenwell, Hatton Garden and Holborn had become the traditional home of London’s tailors, silversmiths, goldsmiths, jewellers, carvers and a multitude of other crafts, driven from within the Walls by the City’s restrictive practices. The City’s new measures halted the immediate flight, and ensured that the Golden Square Mile could rapidly regain its previous commercial supremacy. But in the years after 1666 it lost its diversity. It ceased to be a medieval town-of-all-trades. Its greatest citizens left it, as did thousands of ordinary working people. It began early to acquire many of its present-day characteristics as a ‘central business district’.


What the City lost, however, Westminster gained. In addition to the developments already described—Covent Garden, Lincoln’s Inn Fields, Bloomsbury and St James’s—numerous other lucky holders of land ‘west of the bars’ suddenly saw the opportunity the new migration offered. Nearer to St James’s Palace, the bulk of the development was aristocratic both in its origin and in its potential tenancy. The Earl of Leicester, who had been refused planning permission before the Civil War when he had wanted to build on his fields behind St Martin’s Lane, granted a handful of leases early in the Restoration for others to build on the east side of what became Leicester Square. Then in 1670 he obtained full permission for the completion of the Square in front of his own mansion. He continued, like Lord Southampton in Bloomsbury, to occupy the north range and confer aristocratic dignity on the whole speculation. Immediately to the north lay the old Military Garden of James I’s son, Prince Henry, alongside which stood Newport House. After the Restoration the house and garden came into the possession of Lord Gerrard, who later became Earl of Macclesfield. In 1676 he obtained a licence to build on what is now Gerrard Street, Macclesfield Street and part of Shaftesbury Avenue. Great Newport Street commemorates the site of Newport House, which did not survive long into the eighteenth century.


In the district to the north of St James’s Square, the Duke of St Albans’s friends were now hard at work. Henry Bennet, Earl of Arlington, had been an early occupier of St James’s Square. In 1681 he was granted land to the north-west of it by the King in appreciation of his ardent political support. Arlington promptly sub-let it to a Mr Pym who rapidly threw up some noble but roughly-built houses along what is now Arlington Street and Bennet Street. Despite many comments on their ‘windows turned wry-mouthed, fascias turned SS and divers stacks of chimneys drawn right down’, the houses were soon snapped up by tenants of unimpeachable respectability—Lord Dartmouth, the Marquess of Dorchester, Lord Brook and Lord Cholmondeley, among others. Arlington himself never lived there, understandably preferring his mansion on the site of what is now Buckingham Palace.


However, it was on the other side of Piccadilly that some of the most interesting late-seventeenth-century development took place. Just as the banks of the Thames had provided the natural living quarters for the Tudor nobility, with easy access to the Court at Whitehall, so the area north of St James’s Palace filled the same bill for the nobility of the later Stuarts. It was to the north of Jermyn’s new Square that men who could still afford to build themselves London palaces now turned their attention. Piccadilly itself had been the name of a hall near the north side of the present Circus owned by a City tailor, Robert Baker. It appears to have been the nickname given to Baker’s house as a result of the fortune he made through the sale of ‘pickadillies’ or starched ruffs much in fashion at the time.12 Baker died in 1666 and after the death of his widow in 1669 the land was acquired by Colonel Thomas Panton. Panton was a reformed gambler who had made in a single night a sum which yielded him £1,500 a year; he had sworn there and then to leave the cards and dice alone for good. He purchased Shaver’s Hall near the Haymarket, a famous gambling den which could well have been the scene of his success. In 1671, he petitioned to be allowed to develop his land with ‘a fair street of good building’. Sir Christopher Wren, the new Surveyor-General, recommended approval and the result was the present Panton Street. Shaver’s Hall itself was occupied by Henry Coventry, Secretary of State under Charles II, who gave his name to Coventry Street on the north side of the site.


Further west along Piccadilly another prominent Restoration statesman, the Earl of Clarendon, obtained from the King a grant of land immediately north of Jermyn’s St James’s development. Like so many other noble Restoration developers, Clarendon was not a popular man at Court; the house which the architect Roger Pratt built him on his new land was dubbed Dunkirk House by those who assumed he paid for it by selling Dunkirk to the French. Perhaps to ensure that at least some friends should be close at hand, Clarendon disposed of strips of land on either side of his house to two associates, Lord Berkeley of Stratton who built Berkeley House to the west and the Earl of Cork and Burlington who built Burlington House to the east. Clarendon House was clearly a splendid building. Samuel Pepys described it as ‘the finest pile I ever did see in my life’.13 But it did not last long. Clarendon fell from grace in 1667 and was driven into exile. In 1675 his house was bought by Christopher Monk, Duke of Albemarle, for £25,000, which was half of what it had cost to build. Albemarle, however, was the last person who should have been entrusted with such a possession. A wildly extravagant rake, he was finally forced to auction it in 1683 for £35,000 to a consortium of City bankers who wanted to develop the site. John Evelyn, who had been friendly with poor old Clarendon, was appalled at the house’s imminent destruction but could do nothing to halt it. In September 1683 it was finally demolished and Clarendon became one of the rare West End landowners whose occupation is not recorded in any street name. The consortium which had now acquired the site was headed by Sir Thomas Bond, who had been Controller to Henrietta Maria. Bond died soon afterwards, but not too soon to ensure that his name should live on in one of London’s most famous streets. Albemarle and Dover Streets completed the new estate, while the Duke of Grafton acquired the north end himself to prevent further building beyond his own house there—a futile but eventually profitable gesture. Grafton Street is his commemoration.


To the west, Lord Berkeley’s widow decided in 1684 to make use of part of her husband’s magnificent garden to construct Berkeley and Stratton Street, though leaving until a later date the remainder stretching up to what is now Berkeley Square. John Evelyn, a great friend of Lady Berkeley, proved himself slightly less conservationist in pointing out that, although it was sad to lose part of such a fine garden, the development would produce for her £1,000 a year in ground rents alone. Early in 1697 the house was finally purchased by the Duke of Devonshire.
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